COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re H. W. a Person Coming Under the
Juvenile Court Law

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: S237415

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiffs and Respondents

v.

H. W.

Defendant and Appellant

SUPREME COURT
FILED

FEB 06 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO: C079926
SACRAMENTO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO: JV137101
THE HONORABLE STACY BOULWARE EURIE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert McLaughlin, Esq., State Bar No. 164130
Law Office of Robert McLaughlin
31441 Santa Margarita Parkway, Suite A-135
Rancho Santa Margarita, California 92688
Telephone No: (949) 280-8022

ISSUE PRESENTED

This case presents the following issue:

Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that a pair of pliers, which the defendant used to remove an anti-theft device from a pair of blue jeans in a department store, qualified as a burglary tool within the meaning of Penal Code section 466?

(see California Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2)(A).)

INTRODUCTION

Penal Code¹ section 466 prohibits the possession of specific tools with the felonious intent to break or enter into a building or vehicle. (§ 466.) In addition to

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

the tools enumerated in the statute, section 466 criminalizes the possession of any “other instrument or tool” - with the requisite felonious intent.

On October 13, 2014, appellant, H. W. (hereafter “H. W.”), was arrested after he used a pair of pliers to remove an antitheft tag from a pair of jeans at a Sears department store in Yuba City, California. He was subsequently charged in Count II of an April 14, 2015, juvenile wardship petition, with violating section 466. On July 1, 2015, the Sacramento County Juvenile Court found Count II true beyond a reasonable doubt.

H. W.’s pliers are not specifically enumerated in section 466. The pliers also do not fall within the scope of the statute’s “other instrument or tool” provision. Furthermore, H. W. did not possess the pliers with the requisite “felonious intent” or “burglary purpose.” Nevertheless, the Third Appellate District affirmed the juvenile court’s judgment sustaining Count II.

As discussed more fully below, the Third Appellate District erred when it held H. W. possessed a “burglary tool”, within the meaning of section 466, with the requisite felonious intent. Accordingly, H. W. respectfully requests this Court reverse the Third Appellate District’s published opinion in case number C079926 – subsequently cited as *In re H. W.* (2016) 2 Cal. App. 5th 937.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 14, 2015, the Sacramento County District Attorney (hereafter “the prosecution”) filed a three-count juvenile wardship petition alleging H. W. violated sections 484, subdivision (a) (Count I - misdemeanor), 466 (Count II -

misdemeanor) and 602.5 (Count III - misdemeanor). (Clerk's Transcript, Volume I², hereafter "CT", pp. 32 – 37.) With respect to Count II, the petition specifically alleged:

On or about October 31, 2014, [H. W.] did commit a misdemeanor namely: a violation of Section 466 of the Penal Code of the State of California, in that [H. W.] did unlawfully have in his/her possession a picklock, crow, keybit, crowbar, screwdriver, vice grip pliers, water pump pliers, slidehammer, slim jim, tension bar, lockpick, floor safe door puller, master key, and other instrument or tool with intent feloniously to break and enter a building, car, aircraft, vessel, trailer coach, and vehicle.

(CT, p. 34.)

On July 1, 2015, the juvenile court held the contested jurisdiction/disposition hearing. (CT, p. 68.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the juvenile court sustained Counts I and II of the April 14, 2015, wardship petition and found Count III had "not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt." (Reporter's Transcript Vol. I³, hereafter "RT", p. 102; CT, p. 69.) The juvenile court declared H. W. a ward, placed him on juvenile probation, committed him to juvenile hall for two days - with credit for time served of two days - and set his maximum confinement time at eight months. (RT, pp. 108 – 110; CT, p. 70.)

On August 4, 2015, H. W. filed a timely notice of appeal, contesting the juvenile court's findings and judgment at the July 1, 2015, jurisdiction/disposition

² There is only one volume of the Clerk's Transcript in the appellate record. Accordingly, the Clerk's Transcript will be referred to as "CT" throughout this brief.

³ There is only one volume of the Reporter's Transcript in the appellate record. Accordingly, the Reporter's Transcript will be referred to as "RT" throughout this brief.

hearing. (CT, pp. 86 – 87.) On November 19, 2015, H. W. filed his opening brief. Respondent filed its brief on January 13, 2016. On February 1, 2016, H. W. filed his reply brief. Both parties waived oral argument.

On August 9, 2016, the Third Appellate District, in an unpublished opinion, affirmed the juvenile court’s judgment, sustaining Count II of the April 14, 2015, wardship petition. (*In re H. W.*, *supra*, 2 Cal. App. 5th at p. 946.) On August 22, 2016, respondent filed a request for publication of the Third Appellate District’s Opinion. On August 25, 2016, the Third Appellate District granted respondent’s request and certified its opinion for publication.

On September 27, 2016, H. W. filed his petition for review, pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1), to “secure uniformity of decision.” On November 22, 2016, this Court granted H. W.’s petition.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jurisdiction/Disposition

The juvenile court held the contested jurisdiction/disposition hearing on July 1, 2015. (CT, p. 68.) Marcus A. Nealy (hereafter “Nealy”), Yuba City Police Officer Joseph William Jackson (hereafter “Jackson”), Yuba City Police Officer Brian Thornton (hereafter “Thornton”), Yuba City Police Officer Todd Wolfe (hereafter “Wolfe”) and Jorge Madrigal (hereafter “Madrigal”) testified. (CT, p. 69.)⁴

⁴ Thornton, Wolfe and Madrigal’s testimony related solely to the allegations set forth in Count III of the April 14, 2015, wardship petition. Accordingly, their

Testimony of Nealy

On October 13, 2014, Nealy was employed as a loss prevention agent at the Sears department store in Yuba City, California. (RT, pp. 25 – 26.) His duty that day was “to observe and apprehend thieves, theft, shoplifting.” (RT, p. 26.) The store’s loss prevention manager, Stephanie Garza, (hereafter “Garza”) worked with Nealy that day. (RT, p. 26.)

At 4:30 p. m., Nealy and Garza watched the sales floor, in Nealy’s office, via the store’s closed-circuit television (hereafter “CCTV”.) (RT, p. 26.) Nealy and Garza saw H. W. in the men’s department with an apparently empty backpack, “looking around very suspiciously.” (RT, p. 27.) Garza and Nealy split up and went to the sales floor. (RT, p. 27.)

Nealy was positioned at the end of the men’s department. (RT, p. 28.) He maintained contact with Garza via cell phone. (RT, p. 28.) Garza told Nealy she saw H. W. use a pair of pliers to remove an antitheft ink tag from a pair of jeans. (RT, pp. 28 – 29, 32, 42.) Garza told Nealy H. W. “rolled” the jeans up and put them in his backpack. (RT, p. 29.) Nealy did not personally observe H. W. “conceal anything” when Nealy was on the floor. (RT, p. 44.)

H. W. went to the store bathroom. (RT, p. 29.) Shortly thereafter, H. W. left the bathroom. (RT, p. 30.) Nealy subsequently checked the bathroom and did not find either the jeans or the anti-theft ink tag. (RT, pp. 30 - 31.)

testimony is irrelevant to the issue before this Court and will not be referenced any further herein.

H. W. walked out of the store. (RT, pp. 30 - 31.) He did not stop at any of the cash registers, or attempt to pay for the jeans he carried. (RT, p. 31.) H. W. passed “all points of sale without paying.” (RT, p. 31.)

Garza told Nealy H. W. was leaving the store. (RT, p. 31.) Nealy pursued H. W. (RT, p. 31.) Nealy confronted H. W. when he left the store. (RT, p. 31.) Nealy identified himself, told H. W. he “knew about the jeans that were concealed” and asked H. W. to come with him. (RT, p. 31.)

Nealy brought H. W. to his office. (RT, p. 31.) He did not search H. W. (RT, p. 31.) Nealy did not recall whether he or Garza called the police. (RT, pp. 31 - 32.)

Nealy told the court when an antitheft ink tag is “released by force without the unlocking device, the ink sprays out.” (RT, p. 43.) He added the tags are not “easy to cut off.” (RT, p. 32.) In fact, Nealy believed it was impossible for a person to remove an antitheft tag with his or her bare hands. (RT, p. 32.) In his experience, it is common for people who steal items with “antitheft tags...to bring tools to remove the ink tag.” (RT, p. 32.) Nealy opined H. W. had to use the pliers to remove the tag from the jeans. (RT, pp. 32 – 33.)

After the police arrived, H. W.’s backpack was opened. (RT, p. 33.) Nealy saw a \$68.00 pair of Levi 501 jeans in the backpack. (RT, p. 33.) He was not certain where the pliers were discovered. (RT, p. 33.) H. W. had no form of payment on his person. (RT, pp. 33 – 34.) H. W. did not have permission to take the jeans. (RT, pp. 34 – 35.) Nealy gave the pliers and the CCTV DVD of the

incident to the police. (RT, p. 35.)

After the incident, Nealy watched H. W.'s actions on the store's CCTV. (RT, pp. 29, 44, 46.) He saw H. W. select the jeans and enter the restroom. (RT, pp. 29 – 30, 47.) H. W. entered the restroom, carrying the jeans outside of his backpack. (RT, p. 30.) Nealy did not see the jeans when H. W. left the restroom. (RT, pp. 30, 43.) Nealy searched the men's restroom and did not find any jeans. (RT, pp. 30 - 31.) Nealy concluded H. W. "concealed the jeans." (RT, p. 30.)

The CCTV DVD was then played for the court. (RT, p. 36.) Nealy described the images depicted on the DVD. (RT, pp. 36 - 38.) H. W. held a "balled up" pair of jeans. (RT, pp. 36 – 37.) H. W. entered the men's bathroom. (RT, p. 37.) H. W. exited the bathroom. (RT, p. 38.) The jeans were not visible. (RT, p. 38.) H. W. exited the store without attempting to pay for the jeans. (RT, p. 38.) Nealy followed H. W. (RT, p. 38.)

Testimony of Jackson

Jackson was employed by the Yuba City Police Department. (RT, p. 48.) He was on patrol on October 13, 2014. (RT, p. 48.) Jackson was dispatched to the Sears store in Yuba City "to a call of a shoplifter who was in custody." (RT, p. 49.) He contacted Garza and Nealy. (RT, p. 49.)

Jackson searched H. W. (RT, p. 50.) H. W. had no wallet or money on his person. (RT, pp. 50, 53.) Jackson received a CCTV DVD, a receipt for the jeans, an empty backpack and a pair of pliers from loss prevention. (RT, pp. 50, 54.) In his experience, pliers are "commonly used as a tool to remove tags from clothing

items that have a metal pin-type securing device.” (RT, p. 52.) Jackson issued H. W. a citation for possession of burglary tools and petty theft. (RT, p. 53.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT ERRED WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE JUVENILE COURT’S JURISDICTION ORDER, SUSTAINING COUNT II OF THE WARDSHIP PETITION, BECAUSE H. W. DID NOT POSSESS A “BURGLARY TOOL”, WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 466, WITH THE REQUISITE “FELONIOUS INTENT” OR “BURGLARIOUS PURPOSE”

A.

H. W.’S PLIERS WERE NOT ENUMERATED IN SECTION 466 AND DID NOT QUALIFY AS AN “OTHER INSTRUMENT OR TOOL” WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE STATUTE

H. W. did not possess a tool specifically enumerated in section 466. Accordingly, to qualify as a “burglary tool”, within the meaning of section 466, H. W.’s pliers must fall within the scope of the statute’s “other instrument or tool” provision.

In its August 9, 2016, opinion, the Third Appellate District erroneously determined H. W.’s pliers qualified as an “other instrument or tool” within the

meaning of section 466 because he used them for a “burglarious purpose”:

We...conclude ‘the plain import of ‘other instrument or tool,’ and the only meaning that effectuates the obvious legislative purpose of section 466 includes tools that the evidence shows are possessed with the intent to be used for burglary.’ [Citation] Such an interpretation is consistent with the purpose of the statute which is to prevent the crime regardless of whether the tool is used to gain entry, to break into the building, or to effectuate the theft....a person need not use the tool or instrument he or she possesses to break into the building so long as he or she procured that tool or instrument intending to use it ‘for a burglarious purpose.’ [Citation].

(*In re H. W.*, *supra*, 2 Cal. App. 5th at p. 944 – 945.) The Third Appellate District’s opinion expressly adopted the “burglarious purpose” interpretation of “other instrument or tool” propounded by the First Appellate District in *People v. Kelly* (2007) 154 Cal. App. 4th 961, 967 - 968 [“‘other instrument or tool,’ includes tools that the evidence shows are possessed with the intent to be used for burglary”.] (*Kelly*). (*In re H. W.*, *supra*, 2 Cal. App. 5th at p. 944.)

In doing so, the Third Appellate District rejected the “*eiusdem generis*” construction of “other instrument or tool” advanced by the Fourth Appellate District in *People v. Gordon* (2001) 90 Cal. App. 4th 1409, 1412, superseded by statute as stated in *People v. Diaz* (2012) 207 Cal. App. 4th 396, 401 - 402 [Division One] (*Gordon*) and *People v. Diaz*, *supra*, 207 Cal. App. 4th at pp. 403 – 404 [Division Three] (*Diaz*)⁵. The *Diaz* Court specifically disapproved of the *Kelly* Court’s reasoning and held:

⁵ The *eiusdem generis* canon of construction applies when general terms follow a list of specific items or categories, or vice versa. (*Gordon*, *supra*, 90 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1412.) Under this rule, application of the general term is “‘restricted to those things that are similar to those which are enumerated specifically.’” (*Ibid.*)

...section 466 is limited to instruments and tools used to break into or gain access to property in a manner similar to using items enumerated in section 466. That the perpetrator breaks into or enters property, or attempts to do so, *and* happens to have access to a tool that may be used in the course of the burglary is not enough. The tool must be for the purpose of breaking, entering, or otherwise gaining access to the victim's property.

(emphasis in original) (*Diaz, supra*, 207 Cal. App. 4th p. 404.)

There was no evidence H. W.'s pliers could be used to "break into or gain access to property in a manner similar to the items enumerated in section 466."

(*Ibid.*) Thus, the pliers were not "similar" to the tools listed in section 466. (*Ibid.*)

Pursuant to the *ejusdem generis* canon of construction, the pliers cannot be included within the definition of "other instrument or tool." (*Ibid; Gordon, supra*, 90 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1412.) Accordingly, they did not qualify as a "burglary tool" within the meaning of section 466.

By accepting the *Kelly* Court's broad interpretation of "other instrument or tool", the Third Appellate District expanded the reach of section 466 far beyond the Legislature's intent and criminalized the possession of virtually any common object – including a stick or a rock – so long as it could potentially be used for a "burglarious purpose." By contrast, the *Gordon* and *Diaz* decisions clearly and concisely define the scope of section 466 and are more consistent with the statute's Legislative intent.

Section 466

Section 466 prohibits the possession of "burglary instruments or tools" and provides:

Every person having upon him or her in his or her possession a picklock, crow, keybit, crowbar, screwdriver, vise grip pliers, water-pump pliers, slidehammer, slim jim, tension bar, lock pick gun, tubular lock pick, bump key, floor-safe door puller, master key, ceramic or porcelain spark plug chips or pieces, *or other instrument or tool*⁶ with intent feloniously to break or enter into any building, railroad car, aircraft, or vessel, trailer coach, or vehicle as defined in the Vehicle Code, or who shall knowingly make or alter, or shall attempt to make or alter, any key or other instrument named above so that the same will fit or open the lock of a building, railroad car, aircraft, vessel, trailer coach, or vehicle as defined in the Vehicle Code, without being requested to do so by some person having the right to open the same, or who shall make, alter, or repair any instrument or thing, knowing or having reason to believe that it is intended to be used in committing a misdemeanor or felony, is guilty of a misdemeanor. Any of the structures mentioned in Section 459 shall be deemed to be a building within the meaning of this section.

(emphasis added) (§ 466.)

To sustain a conviction for possession of burglary tools, in violation of section 466, the prosecution must establish three elements: (1) possession by the defendant; (2) of a tool within the purview of the statute; (3) with the intent to use the tool for the felonious purpose of breaking or entering into any building, railroad car, aircraft, or vessel, trailer coach, or vehicle. (§ 466; *People v. Southard* (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 1079, 1084 – 1085.) (*Southard*)

The items specifically listed as burglary tools in section 466 are typically keys, key replacements or “tools that can be used to pry open doors, pick locks, or

⁶ As relevant here, the Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary defines “instrument” as: an “implement...designed for precision work.” (*Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/instrument>> (as of January 19, 2017.) Meanwhile, Merriam-Webster defines “tool” as “a handheld device that aids in accomplishing a task.” (*Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/tool>> (as of January 19, 2017.)

pull locks up or out.” (*Gordon, supra*, 90 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1412.) The offense is a “general intent” crime, meaning it is not necessary to prove the defendant specifically intended to use the burglar tools in “a particular place, or for a special purpose, or in any definite manner.” (*Southard, supra*, 152 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1088.) Instead, “[t]he offense is complete when tools...[are] procured with intent to use them for a burglarious purpose.” (*Ibid.*)

It is undisputed H. W. possessed pliers when he was arrested.⁷ Ordinary pliers are not specifically identified in section 466. The statute specifically refers only to “vise grip pliers”⁸ and “water pump pliers”⁹ (§ 466.) There is no evidence

⁷ The Merriam Webster Dictionary offers three definitions of “pliers”: (1) “small pincers for holding small objects or for bending and cutting wire”; (2) “a tool that is used for holding small objects or for bending or cutting wire” and (3) “small pincers with long jaws used for bending or cutting wire or handling things.” (*Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. <<https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/pliers>> (as of January 19, 2017.)

⁸ The Merriam Webster Dictionary does not offer a definition of “vise grip pliers. However, Wikipeida defines “vise grip pliers” as “...pliers that can be locked into position, using an over-center action. One side of the handle includes a bolt that is used to adjust the spacing of the jaws, the other side of the handle (especially in larger models) often includes a lever to push the two sides of the handles apart to unlock the pliers. ‘Mole’ and ‘Vise-Grip’ are trade names of different brands of locking pliers.” (Locking pliers, https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Locking_pliers&oldid=756988180 (last visited Dec. 28, 2016).)

⁹ The Merriam Webster Dictionary does not offer a definition of “water pump pliers.” However, Wikipedia defines “water pump pliers” as follows: “Tongue and groove pliers also known as water pump pliers, adjustable pliers, groove-joint pliers, arc joint pliers, Multi-Grips, tap or pipe spanners, gland pliers and Channellocks - are a type of slip-joint pliers They have serrated jaws generally set 45 to 60 degrees from the handles. The lower jaw can be moved to a number of positions by sliding along a tracking section under the upper jaw. An advantage of this design is that the pliers can adjust to a number of sizes without the distance in

the tool recovered from H. W. was identified as either “vise grip pliers” or “water pump pliers.” Accordingly, to qualify as a burglary tool under section 466, H. W.’s pliers must fall within the scope of the statute’s “other instrument or tool” provision. (§ 466.) As set forth more fully below, they did not.

Standard of Review

“As in any case involving statutory interpretation” a reviewing court’s “fundamental task is to determine the Legislature’s intent so as to effectuate the law’s purpose.” (*People v. Cole* (2006) 38 Cal. 4th 964, 974.) Statutory interpretation begins with an analysis of the language of the governing statute. (*Beal Bank SSB v. Arter & Hadden, LLP* (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 503, 507; see also, *People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal. 3^d 1002, 1007.) Words are afforded their ordinary and usual meaning, as the words the Legislature chose to enact are the most reliable indicator of its intent. (*Vasquez v. California* (2008) 45 Cal. 4th 243, 251.)

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