**COPY**

**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**In re H.W., a Person Coming Under the  
Juvenile Court of Law.**

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF  
CALIFORNIA,**  
**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**H.W.,**  
**Defendant and Appellant.**

Case No. S237415

**SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

**APR 03 2017**

**Jorge Navarrete Clerk**

**Deputy**

Third Appellate District, Case No. C079926  
Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. JV137101  
The Honorable Stacy Boulware Eurie, Judge

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

XAVIER BECERRA  
Attorney General of California  
GERALD A. ENGLER  
Chief Assistant Attorney General  
MICHAEL P. FARRELL

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

If this Court determines that a statute is ambiguous or lacks clarity, it “may resort to extrinsic sources, including the ostensible objects to be achieved and the legislative history.” (*Walker, supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 581.) In considering extrinsic sources, this Court “strive[s] to select the construction that comports most closely with the Legislature’s apparent intent, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the statutes’ general purposes.” (*Ibid.*) “The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible.” (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-1387.) The provisions of the Penal Code are construed “with a view to effect its objects and to promote justice.” (§ 4.)

Here, contrary to appellant’s contention (AOBM 14, 27), the phrase “other instrument or tool” in section 466 is unambiguous and includes

pliers like the ones appellant possessed in this case. “Instrument,” as used in context here, is commonly understood as an “implement,” especially “one designed for precision work.” (Merriam-Webster’s Dict. (10th college ed. 1998) p. 606, col. 2.) Likewise, “tool” is defined as “a handheld device that aids in accomplishing a task.” (*Id.* at p. 1243, col. 1.) In the context of the enumerated items listed in section 466, which are all commonly understood as instruments or tools, the phrase “other instrument or tool” is “not amenable to two alternative interpretations.” (*Arias, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 177.) As the appellate court in *People v. Kelly* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 961, 967 (*Kelly*), properly noted, “We do not consider the language proscribing possession of ‘any instrument or tool’ with the specified felonious intent to be inherently ambiguous.”

“Pliers” fall within the unambiguous phrase “other instrument or tool.” The modern definition of “pliers” is “a small pincers for holding small objects or for bending and cutting wire.” (Merriam-Webster’s Dict., *supra*, at p. 894, col. 2.) It is commonly understood that “pliers” constitute tools. (See, e.g., *People v. Osborne* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1052, 1058-1059 [officer observed “several tools (screwdrivers, pliers, etc.)”]; *People v. Griffith* (1971) 19 Cal.App.3d 948, 950 [“numerous tools” included “primarily pliers and screwdrivers”].) By definition and its understanding in common language, pliers constitute tools. Thus, because pliers are commonly understood to constitute an “instrument or tool” in the unambiguous terms of section 466, appellant’s pliers constitute burglary tools within the meaning of the statute.

*People v. Harris* (1950) 98 Cal.App.2d 662 (*Harris*) is instructive. There, the defendant was found in possession of “a steel wood chisel . . . about six inches long, three-quarters of an inch wide, an eighth of an inch thick, and ha[d] a sharpened point.” (*Id.* at p. 663.) He was charged and convicted for unlawfully possessing a “sharp instrument” under section

4502. (*Ibid.*) At that time, section 4502 prohibited a prisoner in state prison from possessing, carrying upon his person, or having under his custody, among other things, “any dirk or dagger or sharp instrument.” (*Ibid.*) On appeal, the defendant argued that the statute was invalid because it did not define the phrase “sharp instrument” and was thus ambiguous. (*Id.*, at p. 666.)

In rejecting the defendant’s argument, the appellate court observed, “Criminal statutes are not to be strictly construed, but all the provisions of the Penal Code are to be construed according to the fair import of their terms, with a view to effect is objects and to promote justice.” (*Harris, supra*, 98 Cal.App.2d at p. 666, internal citations omitted.) It noted, “The Legislature was not required to list every type of sharp instrument in the statutory prohibition. All that is required is that the crime must be clearly defined so that any reasonable person will know what constitutes a violation.” (*Ibid.*) Section 4502 “was passed to protect inmates and officers of state prisons from the perils of assaults with dangerous weapons perpetrated by armed prisoners.” (*Ibid.*, internal citations omitted.) In light of the circumstances, the defendant “obviously knew what the statute meant, and knew that he was violating it.” (*Ibid.*) Other California Courts of Appeal have similarly found the phrase “sharp instrument” unambiguous. (See *People v. Crenshaw* (1946) 74 Cal.App.2d 26; *People v. Morales* (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 537, 539-541 [rejecting contention that statute is unconstitutionally broad and vague]; *People v. Custodio* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 807, 811-813 [statute not unconstitutionally vague].)

Similarly here, the phrase “other instrument or tool” is unambiguous. Both “instrument” and “tool” have well-established definitions and meanings in common language. As in section 4502, the statute prohibiting possession of burglary tools also enumerates specific devices that are unlawful to possess. (§ 466.) The Legislature is not required to list every

type of instrument or tool that qualifies as a burglary tool under section 466. (*Harris, supra*, 98 Cal.App.2d at p. 666.) Like section 4502, the burglary tools statute serves a clear purpose—to deter burglaries by affording law enforcement officers the ability to apprehend would-be burglars before they have the opportunity to commit the offense. (Annot., Validity, Construction, and Application of Statutes Relating to Burglars’ Tools (1970) 33 A.L.R.3d 798, 805, § 2[a]; 3 Wharton’s Criminal Law (15th ed., updated Sept. 2016) § 333 (“Wharton’s Criminal Law”).) Thus, similar to the phrase “sharp instrument” following “dirk or dagger” in section 4502, the phrase “other instrument or tool” following an enumerated list of devices in section 466 is unambiguous.

Additionally, the phrase “other instrument or tool” does not create latent ambiguity when read in context of section 466. A direct reading of the burglary tool statute reflects the Legislature’s intent to punish those who possesses an enumerated object or “other instrument or tool with intent feloniously to break or enter” into a building. (§ 466.) It does not take any stretch of the imagination to believe that someone could (and would) use pliers to effectuate a burglary.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, reading “other instrument or tool” to include pliers does not result in “absurd” or “unreasonable” consequences or results. (*Leiva, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 510; *Stanton, supra*, 28 Cal.3d at p. 115.)

However, even if this Court determines that the phrase “other instrument or tool” is ambiguous, the application of extrinsic aids demonstrates that pliers qualify as a burglary tool under section 466. One such extrinsic source used to interpret statutes is the doctrine of *ejusdem generis*. (*Arias, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 180.) This is the same doctrine

---

<sup>5</sup> The issue of whether the “instrument or tool” must be used for the actual “breaking or entering” of a building is discussed *post*.

applied by the Courts of Appeal in interpreting section 466. (See generally *People v. Gordon* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1409, 1412-1413 (*Gordon*), superseded by statute as stated in *People v. Diaz* (2012) 207 Cal.App.4th 396 (*Diaz*); *Kelly, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 967.) This doctrine “applies when general terms follow a list of specific items or categories, or vice versa.” (*Gordon*, at p. 1412.) Under this doctrine, “application of the general term is ‘restricted to those things that are similar to those which are enumerated specifically.’” (*Ibid.*, citing *Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1160, fn. 7.) As applied here, “the meaning of the words ‘or other instrument or tool’ in section 466 is restricted to a form of device similar to those expressly set forth in the statute.” (*Gordon, supra*, at p. 1412.)

“Pliers” are similar to the devices expressly enumerated in section 466 because they are also instruments or tools with similar uses and functions. The enumerated tools in section 466 are ones that may be used to forcibly gain access to property; more specifically, they may be used to force open or bypass entryways and locks. As appellant notes, the listed “vise grip pliers” and “water pump pliers” are simply pliers that serve additional functions, such as having the ability to lock into position or adjust without the distance in the handle growing wider. (AOBM 12, fns. 8 & 9.) It is not difficult to imagine the ways in which a pair of pliers may similarly be used to gain access to property, by forcibly holding something in place or providing the force necessary to pull something up or out. Under the reasoning provided in *Gordon*, pliers have the same “function,” accomplish the “same general purpose,” are “similar,” and surely “resemble[.]” the devices listed in section 466. (*Gordon, supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1412-1413.) Under the doctrine of *ejusdem generis*, pliers constitute an “instrument or tool” within the meaning of section 466.

Appellant argues that pliers are dissimilar from the enumerated devices in section 466, relying on *Gordon*'s analysis of the devices as "keys or key replacements, or tools that can be used to pry open doors, pick locks, or pull locks up and out." (AOBM 20, 28, citing *Gordon, supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at p. 1412.) But this interpretation of the listed devices is too narrow and improperly restricts the characteristics and functions of the devices. Indeed, in response to *Gordon*, the Legislature specifically added "ceramic or porcelain spark plug chips or pieces" among the enumerated burglary tools. (*Kelly, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 966.) Unlike devices that pry open doors, pick locks, or pull locks up and out, ceramic spark plug pieces are used to "shatter" car windows for the purpose of burglarizing the vehicle. (*Gordon*, at p. 1411.) As the Court in *Kelly* explained, "The legislative response to *Gordon* undermines its conclusion that section 466 was intended to encompass only items that can be used to unlock, pry, or pull something open." (*Kelly*, at pp. 966-967.) Even the appellate court in *Southard*, which appellant relies upon, recognized that the defendant there "was found in possession of numerous tools that *clearly fall within the scope of section 466*," including "multiple pairs of *pliers*" and "a large pair of *bolt cutters*." (*Southard, supra*, 152 Cal.App.4th at p. 1090, italics added.) This conclusion, reached without any difficulty, further undermines appellant's reliance on *Gordon* in arguing that section 466 was not intended to include pliers or any instrument or tool capable of cutting.

In any event, to the extent vise-grip or water-hose pliers may clamp and hold something in place to either pry something open, pick locks, or pull locks up and out (*Gordon, supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at p. 1412), pliers function similarly. (See AOBM 12, fns. 7-9 [defining "pliers," "vise-grip pliers," and "water pump pliers"].) The fact that generic pliers may *additionally* be used to "cut" does not detract from its similarity in function to enumerated devices like vise grip or water pump pliers.

Relying on *Diaz, supra*, 207 Cal.App.4th at page 404, for a limited interpretation of section 466 that includes only those tools used to gain access *into* a building, appellant further argues: “There was no evidence [his] pliers could be used for the purpose of ‘breaking, entering or otherwise gaining access’ *into* a building . . . .” (AOBM 28, original italics.) He continues that an anti-theft device does not “prevent a person from gaining access *into* property.” (AOBM 28, italics added.) However, a burglary tool is used “to break into *or gain access to*” a victim’s property. (*Diaz*, at pp. 396, 404, italics added.) Such a tool “must be for the purpose of breaking, entering, *or otherwise gaining access to* the victim’s property.” (*Id.* at p. 404, italics added.) Because appellant used the pliers with the felonious intent to gain unlawful access *to* the jeans, property belonging to Sears, the reasoning of *Diaz* does not preclude his adjudication for possession of burglary tools.<sup>6</sup>

Appellant also relies on other statutes found in chapter three, title 13, of the Penal Code, which he contends “prohibit the possession, sale, manufacture or duplication of enumerated tools designed for ‘gaining access’ *into* property.” (AOBM 18, italics added.) Appellant’s interpretation is too narrow. Many, if not most, of these statutes contemplate more than just gaining access *into* property. For example, section 466.3 expressly prohibits certain devices “designed to open, break into, *tamper with, or damage* a coin-operated machine.” (§ 466.3, subd. (a),

---

<sup>6</sup> Appellant also contends that an anti-theft device is not a “lock” to prevent a person from gaining access to property—rather, the device “is designed to discourage theft by irreparably damaging the merchandise with ink.” (AOBM 28.) But, by its own name and definition, an “anti-theft device” is one that seeks to prevent theft. There is no reason why an anti-theft device that may damage merchandise when forcefully removed may not also serve its intended purpose to prevent and deter theft, much like a lock.

italics added.) Section 466.5 prohibits possession of a vehicle master key “with the intent to use it in the *commission of an unlawful act*” or with the intent to use such a key to “operate the ignition switch of any motor vehicle . . . or . . . to open a *wheel lock* on any motor vehicle.” (§ 466.5, subs. (a) & (b), italics added.) Section 466.6 prohibits manufacture of a key “capable of *operating the ignition* of a motor vehicle or *personal property* registered under the Vehicle Code.” (§ 466.6, subd. (a), italics added.) Section 466.65 similarly prohibits devices “designed to bypass the factory-installed ignition of a motorcycle in order to start the engine.” (§ 466.65, subd. (a).) Sections 466.7 and 466.9 also refer only to the intent “to use [the prohibited device] . . . in the commission of an unlawful act.” (§§ 466.7, 466.9, subs. (a) & (b).) In other words, the statutes in chapter three, title 13, of the Penal Code expressly contemplate possessing certain devices with an intent *other than* to use the device for “gaining access into property.” (AOBM 18.) Appellant’s reliance on these statutes is misplaced.

Appellant’s fear that the inclusion of “pliers” in the burglary tools statute will lead to unintended expansion of that statute to include “common objects such as rocks or pieces of metal” (AOBM 29), “any common item” (AOBM 18), and even “a stick” (AOBM 10), is similarly groundless. As appellant himself acknowledges (AOBM 17, citing Stats. 2002, ch. 335, § 1), the Legislature made it abundantly clear that it did not intend for such objects to fall within the statute. (*Kelly, supra*, 154 Cal.App.4th at p. 968, fn. 2 [noting that “the Legislature expressly clarified its intent not to include rocks or pieces of metal”].) And, as discussed above, “pliers” fall within the phrase “instrument or tool” as it is used in section 466. In stark contrast, common objects like rocks and sticks are neither instruments or tools as those terms are commonly understood. In addition to the Legislature’s clear and express intent that common objects are not included under section 466, appellant’s argument that the inclusion



of “pliers” in section 466 will permit prosecution based on the possession of common objects such as sticks and rocks is unfounded and should be rejected.

In sum, the common understanding of the term “pliers” fits within the unambiguous phrase “instrument or tool” in section 466. Appellant’s argument should be rejected by this Court.

## **II. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES APPELLANT HARBORED THE NECESSARY INTENT UNDER SECTION 466**

Appellant argues insufficient evidence supports a finding he possessed the requisite intent under section 466. (AOBM 30-36.) Specifically, he contends his intent to use the pliers to commit theft inside Sears was insufficient under the statute because: (1) he did not intend to or, in fact, use the pliers to “break, enter or otherwise gain access into Sears”; and (2) under Proposition 47, his offense constituted shoplifting, a misdemeanor, and thus insufficient evidence demonstrated “felonious intent.” (AOBM 30-36.) Respondent disagrees. As a threshold matter, appellant’s Proposition 47 claim is not properly before this Court because this Court’s grant of review does not encompass that issue. In any event, the only intent required under section 466 is that a defendant possess the burglary tool with the intent to use the tool to commit any theft or felony inside a building; a “burglarious” intent.

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